CRC SUPREME COURT 8.25(b) FILED NOV 2 1 2017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

In re B.M., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

B.M., a minor,

Defendant and Appellant.

Supreme Court No. S242153 2d. Crim. B277076 Sup. Ct. No. 2016025026

Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B277076 Ventura County Superior Court, Case No. 2016025026 Honorable Brian Back, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Elizabeth K. Horowitz State Bar No. 298326

Law Office of Elizabeth K. Horowitz 5272 S. Lewis Ave, Suite 256
Tulsa, OK 74105
Telephone: (424) 543-4710

ISSUE ON REVIEW

By order of this Court, filed July 26, 2017, the issue presented in this case is: "Can a butter knife with a rounded end and a serrated edge qualify as a deadly or dangerous weapon under Penal Code section 245, subdivision (a)(1)?"

INTRODUCTION

Appellant suffered an adjudication for assault with a deadly weapon for slicing a dull, rounded butter knife toward her sister's legs that were covered in a blanket, resulting in no injury. This was error.

A butter knife with a rounded end and a serrated edge is not an inherently deadly weapon. Therefore, it cannot qualify as a deadly weapon

under Penal Code section 245, subdivision (a)(1) ("section 245(a)(1)") unless there is sufficient evidence demonstrating that the butter knife was actually used "in such a way that it [was] capable of causing and likely to cause death or great bodily injury." (People v. Aguilar (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1023, 1028-29, emphasis added ("Aguilar").) Common sense dictates that a dull butter knife would have to be used in a particularly violent manner for it to be considered "deadly" under this definition, and the facts of this case present no such scenario. Indeed, there is no evidence in the record that appellant's actions — which involved merely swiping a dull butter knife at her sister's blanket-covered legs a few times while applying just a little pressure — were either capable of causing or likely to cause any injury, much less serious injury or death. (See In re Brandon T. (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1491, 1496-98 ("Brandon T."); People v. Beasley (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1078, 1087 ("Beasley").)

The Court of Appeal, in concluding to the contrary, failed to evaluate the likelihood of injury, based its decision on hypothetical uses of the knife that were without support in the record, and expressly parted ways with sound, applicable case law. When analyzing the evidence under the proper legal standard, with a focus on the assault itself and the manner in which appellant in fact used the dull and rounded instrument, it is quite clear that it cannot support an adjudication under section 245(a)(1). Because the Court of Appeal failed to properly analyze the evidence under applicable law, and because the evidence does not support appellant's adjudication, reversal is required.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A petition was filed on July 6, 2016, under Welfare and Institutions Code section 602 alleging that appellant, B.M., a minor ("appellant"), committed felony assault with a deadly weapon in violation of section 245(a)(1) upon her sister with a butter knife. The petition requested that

appellant be adjudged and declared a ward of the Juvenile Court. (CT 1-2.)¹

On August 12, 2016, after a contested hearing, the court sustained the juvenile wardship petition, finding true the allegation that appellant committed felony assault with a deadly weapon. (CT 33; RT 89.) On August 24, 2016, the court declared appellant a ward of the court and committed appellant to a Juvenile Justice Facility for 90 days. Upon completion of the commitment, the court ordered appellant detained pending suitable placement. (*Id.*)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (CT 98.) Following briefing by the parties, on April 20, 2017, the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Six, issued a published opinion affirming the adjudication. (See *In re B.M.* (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 1292.) On July 26, 2017, this Court granted review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prosecution Case

On July 2, 2016, appellant returned to her family home after staying out for the night and discovered that the locks had been changed and her key did not work. (RT 12, 31.) Appellant, who was 16 years old at the time, became upset and entered the house through an unlocked window. (RT 13.) Sophia M., appellant's 17-year-old sister, had just gotten out of the shower when appellant entered her room and started yelling at her. Appellant shouted at Sophia, threw a phone at her, and left. (RT 14-15.) Appellant then returned to the room with a small butter knife in her hand.

¹ "CT" and "RT" refer respectively to the Clerk's and Reporter's Transcripts of proceedings conducted in this case. All further statutory references are to the Penal Code.

(RT 14-16.) The knife was not sharp. It was about six inches long and metal. It had about three inches of ridges along one side. (RT 28-29.)

Once Sophia saw appellant enter her room for the second time, she grabbed a blanket and covered herself with it. She did this because she was still in her towel, and she did not know what appellant was going to do. (RT 16.) Sophia was laying down, fully on the bed with her knees bent. (RT 24.) Appellant "just had [the butter knife] in her hand." (RT 20.)

After Sophia covered herself with the blanket, appellant came toward her and made a downward "slicing" motion with the butter knife a few times. (RT 34.) She did not poke the knife. (*Ibid.*) Appellant remained three feet away from Sophia when she did this, positioned near Sophia's feet and legs. (RT 23-24, 32-33.) Appellant never made contact with Sophia and never stabbed her. (RT 17, 24.) The butter knife hit the blanket a few times, and Sophia could feel "a little" pressure through the blanket from the knife. (RT 24-25, 34.) On a scale of one to ten, Sophia estimated the pressure from the knife to be around five or six. (RT 34.) Sophia was not injured. (RT 27.)

Natalie, another sister, was also lying on the bed when this occurred. When appellant stopped slicing the butter knife, she started arguing with Natalie. Appellant and Natalie left the room and got into a fist fight. Sophia called the police.² (RT 26-27.)

Officer Ryan Reynosa responded to the 911 call and asked appellant to tell him what happened. (RT 49-54, 57.) Appellant told Reynosa that when she came home the locks were changed and she went into the house through an unlocked window. (RT 59.) Then she grabbed a butter knife and went into Sophia's room. She saw Sophia in a towel and yelled at her

² The 911 call was played for the jury. (RT 44.)

because she was very upset about being locked out. (RT 59-60.) Sophia said to get out and that she was calling police. (RT 60.) Appellant told Reynosa that she wanted to scare Sophia and so she made stabbing motions toward the bedding that Sophia had pulled over her on the bed. Then she ran downstairs and put the butter knife in the kitchen sink before getting in a fight with Natalie. (*Ibid.*)

Another officer spoke with Sophia. (RT 61.) Reynosa saw that officer leaving the house holding a standard kitchen butter knife. (RT 61-62.)

Defense Case

Appellant testified that when she came home she was surprised to find the locks had been changed. She knocked but no one answered so she entered the house through an open window. (RT 74.) After she entered, she confronted Sophia, asking why the locks had been changed. (RT 75.) She was mad and in the heat of the moment she went downstairs and grabbed the butter knife. (RT 76.) She just wanted to scare Sophia. (RT 75.) She went back up to Sophia's room with the butter knife in her hand and yelled at Sophia again, asking why she changed the locks. She was just holding the butter knife, pointing it downwards, not at Sophia. (RT 76, 78.) When appellant got closer, Sophia covered herself with a blanket and started kicking. (RT 76.) Appellant didn't remember making contact, but thought the butter knife probably touched the bed more than once. (RT 76, 79.) She had no intention of stabbing Sophia and the butter knife never actually touched her. (RT 76.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE BUTTER KNIFE APPELLANT USED WAS NOT A DEADLY WEAPON UNDER PENAL CODE SECTION 245(A)(1)

A. Standard Of Review

The question of whether an instrument that is not inherently dangerous constitutes a deadly weapon pursuant to section 245(a)(1) is a mixed question of law and fact. (See *People v. McCoy* (1944) 25 Cal.2d 177, 188 ("McCoy").)

When addressing questions of fact, the substantial evidence standard applies. (*In re Roderick P*. (1972) 7 Cal.3d 801, 808-809.) Under this standard, the "court must review the whole record in the light most favorable to the judgment below to determine whether it discloses substantial evidence – such that a reasonable trier of fact could find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. [The Court] must presume in support of the judgment the existence of every fact the trier of fact could reasonably deduce from the evidence [citation] and [it] must make all reasonable inferences that support the finding of the juvenile court. [Citation.]" (*In re Jose R.* (1982) 137 Cal.App.3d 269, 275.)

The term "substantial" in this context " 'clearly implies that such evidence must be of ponderable legal significance. Obviously the word cannot be deemed synonymous with "any" evidence.' " (*People v. Basset* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 122, 138-39, quoting *Estate of Teed* (1952) 112 Cal.App.2d 638, 644.) In this regard, the Court "must judge whether the evidence of each of the essential elements constituting the higher degree of the crime is substantial; it is not enough for the respondent simply to point to 'some' evidence supporting the finding.' " (*Id.* at p. 138; *People v. Boyer* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 412, 479; see also *Jackson v. Virginia* (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 319 [setting forth the federal due process standard for sufficiency of the evidence]; *People v. Johnson* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576-78 [holding

that the federal and California standards are the same]; U.S. Const., 5th & 14th Amends.)

In addition, "mere speculation" can never constitute substantial evidence, and therefore "cannot support [an adjudication]." (*People v. Marshall* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1, 34-35, citing *People v. Reyes* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 486, 500.)

Determinations of law are independently reviewed, such as the interpretation and construction of statutory language. (*People v. Love* (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 276, 284.)

B. Definition Of A Deadly Weapon

Pursuant to section 245(a)(1), "[a]ny person who commits an assault upon the person of another with a deadly weapon . . ." is guilty of a felony. As used in this section, there are two types of objects that will qualify as a "deadly weapon." (*Ibid.*) The first is "any object, instrument, or weapon that is *inherently deadly*." (*Aguilar, supra*, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-29, emphasis added; see also CALCRIM 875.) Inherently deadly weapons are those that exist for the very purpose of causing injury or death. "Some few objects, such as dirks and blackjacks, have been held to be deadly weapons as a matter of law; the ordinary use for which they are designed establishes their character as such. [Citation.]" (*Aguilar, supra*, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1029.)

It is indisputable that a butter knife is not an "inherently deadly" weapon under section 245(a)(1). The ordinary and intended use of a butter knife is spreading butter, not causing injury or death. Therefore, it is not inherently dangerous. (See *McCoy*, *supra*, 25 Cal.2d at p. 188 ["a knife is not an inherently dangerous or deadly instrument as a matter of law"].)

Alternatively, an instrument that is not inherently deadly can still be considered a "deadly weapon" for purposes of section 245(a)(1) if it is used "in such a way that it is capable of causing and likely to cause death or great bodily injury." (Aguilar, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-29; see also

CALCRIM 875.) In this context, "[g]reat bodily injury is significant or substantial injury." (*Beasley, supra*, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1087.)

When evaluating a non-inherently deadly instrument to determine if it will be treated as a deadly weapon under section 245(a)(1), the trier of fact "may look to the nature of the instrument, the manner of its use, and the injury inflicted." (People v. White (1963) 212 Cal.App.2d 464, 465.) Therefore, it is not merely the potential capability of the object that renders it a deadly weapon, but rather the facts and circumstances surrounding the alleged assault and how the item was actually used that will determine whether it was both capable of causing, and likely to cause, serious injury or death. (Ibid. ["The rule is that an instrument not inherently a deadly weapon may become so by reason of its use."]; McCoy, supra, 25 Cal.2d at p. 188 ["In assault with a deadly weapon, the character of the particular agency employed is the substance of the offense."]; Aguilar, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-29 ["Other objects, while not deadly per se, may be used, under certain circumstances, in a manner likely to produce death or great bodily injury"]; see also Beasley, supra, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1087 [broomstick and plastic vacuum attachment used to strike victim, causing bruising to arms, shoulders and back, were not used in a manner capable of producing, and likely to produce, death or great bodily injury, and therefore were not deadly weapons under section 245(a)(1)].)

C. The Butter Knife In This Case Was Not A Deadly Weapon Because, As Used, It Was Not Capable Of Causing Or Likely To Cause Great Bodily Injury Or Death

As described above, because a butter knife is not inherently deadly, it will only be considered a deadly weapon under section 245(a)(1) if it is used in such a way that it is both capable of causing, and likely to cause, death or great bodily injury. (Aguilar, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-29.) Based on applicable law and the record of this case, there is insufficient

evidence that appellant used the knife in such a way, and therefore her adjudication for assault with a deadly weapon cannot stand.

The object appellant used was a small butter knife. (RT 15, 16 [according to the victim, it was a "small . . . knife, like a butter knife," the "[t]he type of knife that you would use to butter a piece of toast"].) The knife was approximately six inches long, with three inches of small ridges on one side. (RT 28-29.) "It wasn't . . . sharp." (RT 29.) In sum, it was a typical dull, rounded butter knife, designed for spreading soft substances, as opposed to cutting or stabbing. (RT 28-29, 61-62.)

The facts surrounding appellant's use of the knife are as follows: Appellant entered Sophia's room, holding the butter knife in her hand. Sophia was lying on her bed. When Sophia saw appellant enter, she pulled a blanket over herself because she didn't know what appellant was going to do. Appellant then sliced the butter knife toward the area of Sophia's covered legs "a few times" while standing about three feet away. (RT 16, 20, 23-24, 32-33.) Through the blanket, Sophia felt "a little" pressure from the butter knife. (RT 25.) Appellant did not poke or stab the knife. (*Ibid.*)

These facts and circumstances do not support a finding that appellant used the butter knife in such a way that it was "capable of causing and likely to cause death or great bodily injury." (Aguilar, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-29.) Notably, appellant did not point the butter knife toward her sister's head or neck, and did not attempt to make contact with her skin. (Cf. People v. Page (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1466, 1472 [finding a pencil was a "deadly weapon" only because the offender held it to the victim's neck.]) Indeed, it is difficult to even imagine what kind of minor injury would be likely to result from a dull butter knife used with just a little force against a person's blanket-covered legs, and it is only the particular use of the specific instrument that is relevant when determining whether it will be

considered "deadly" under section 245(a)(1). (McCoy, supra, 25 Cal.2d at p. 188.)

The deficient evidence presented here is similar to, and in fact even more lacking than, the evidence that was found insufficient in *Beasley*, *supra*, 105 Cal.App.4th 1078. In *Beasley*, the defendant challenged the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction for assault with a deadly weapon that resulted from his hitting a cohabitant with a broomstick. The victim testified that Beasley beat her, and "[w]hen asked what he had beat her with, she replied, 'with a broomstick' She further described Beasley's actions as follows: 'I was on the ground, and he kicked me, and he was socking me in my head and my back.' She later testified that bruises on her arms and shoulders depicted in a photograph were caused by the broomstick." (*Id.* at p. 1087.)

Because hands and feet cannot constitute deadly weapons, Beasley's conviction under section 245(a)(1) had to rest solely upon his striking the victim's arms and shoulders with the broomstick. In concluding that the evidence presented was insufficient to support this conviction, the court of appeal explained:

It is certainly conceivable that a sufficiently strong and/or heavy broomstick might be wielded in a manner capable of producing, and likely to produce, great bodily injury, e.g., forcefully striking a small child or a frail adult or any person's face or head. [Citation omitted.] [The victim's] testimony, however, was far too cursory to establish that the broomstick, as used by Beasley, was capable of causing, and likely to cause, great bodily injury or death. Beasley did not strike her head or face with the stick, but instead used it only on her arms and shoulders. She did not describe the degree of force Beasley used in hitting her with the stick The record does not indicate whether the broomstick was solid wood or a hollow tube made of metal, fiberglass, or plastic. . . . The jury therefore had before it no facts from which it

. The jury therefore had before it no facts from which it could assess the severity of the impact between the stick and [the victim's] body. *The evidence showed only that Beasley*

hit her arms and shoulders, caused bruising in those areas. Although extensive, severe bruising, in conjunction with other injuries has been held to constitute great bodily injury ([citations]), bruises on [the victim's] shoulders and arms are insufficient to show that Beasley used the broomstick as a deadly weapon.

(Beasley, supra, 105 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1087-1088, emphasis added.)

As was the case in *Beasley*, appellant "did not strike [Sophia's] head or face with the [butter knife], but instead" directed it only toward her legs, and only when they were covered with a blanket. (*Id.* at p. 1087.) Nor was the victim here a small child or a frail adult. (*Ibid.*) Moreover, in *Beasley*, the force used was enough to cause bruising, while here Sophia was left completely unscathed. Although this record does contain evidence of the type of instrument used and the force that was applied, it showed only that appellant exerted "a little" force with a dull, rounded butter knife, which was not enough to cause any injury at all. (RT 25, 27.) The evidence therefore is quite similar to, and in fact far less severe than, that presented in *Beasley*. If hitting someone's arms and shoulders with a broomstick resulting in actual bruising is not sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the instrument was used as a deadly weapon, then surely slicing a small, dull butter knife towards someone's blanket-covered legs leaving no injury at all is not sufficient either. (*Beasley, supra*, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1087.)

Brandon T. is another analogous case that supports reversal. There the court held that there was insufficient evidence that Brandon T.'s use of a butter knife in the commission of an assault constituted use of a deadly weapon. (Brandon T., supra, 191 Cal.App.4th at p. 1496.) The evidence showed that "Brandon took the knife and tried to cut [the victim's] cheek and throat. Brandon moved his arm up and down, applying a slashing motion on [the victim's] cheek." (Id. at p. 1497.) The victim testified that Brandon "was trying to cut, but it wouldn't cut. So it was just making, like,

welts." (*Ibid*.) Then the handle of the knife broke off. (*Id.* at p. 1494.) A small scratch was left on the victim's cheek, and there was no evidence that the knife drew blood. (*Id.* at p. 1497.)

The court noted that while a conviction for assault with a deadly weapon did not require proof of injury or even physical contact, if injuries do result, "the extent of such injuries and their location are relevant facts for consideration' in determining whether an object or instrument was used in a manner likely to produce death or great bodily injury." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Beasley, supra*, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1087.) The court then concluded that "the butter knife certainly did not produce great bodily injury." (*Brandon T., supra*, 191 Cal.App.4th at p. 1497.)

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