In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re B.M., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

B.M.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S242153

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 09 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B277076 Ventura County Superior Court, Case No. 2016025026 The Honorable Brian J. Back, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
GERALD A. ENGLER
Chief Assistant Attorney General
LANCE E. WINTERS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL C. KELLER
Deputy Attorney General
STEVEN E. MERCER
Deputy Attorney General

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

ARGUMENT

A BUTTER KNIFE WITH A ROUNDED END AND A SERRATED EDGE CAN QUALIFY AS A DEADLY OR DANGEROUS WEAPON UNDER SECTION 245, SUBDIVISION (A)(1), AS IT DID IN THIS CASE

Not all "butter knives" are equal, and every assault is different. But there can be little doubt that some butter knives, if wielded against a victim in a violent attack, may produce and are likely to produce, death or great bodily injury. If the evidence bears this out, then a trier of fact is entitled to reach the commonsense conclusion that a butter knife can indeed "qualify" as a deadly or dangerous weapon under section 245, subdivision (a)(1). And the lower courts were certainly entitled to reach that conclusion in this case, in which B.M. "could have easily inflicted great bodily injury" (*B.M.*, 10 Cal.App.5th at p. 1298), when she violently "stabbed" and "sliced" at her sister with a six-inch, all-metal, serrated knife.⁴

A. Principles Governing Whether An Object Is A Deadly Weapon Under Section 245

Section 245, subdivision (a)(1) provides that "[a]ny person who commits an assault upon the person of another with a deadly weapon or instrument other than a firearm shall be punished by imprisonment in the

⁴ The object described in the issue presented is a knife with a "rounded end," and respondent answers the question as it is worded. But there was no evidence the knife in this case had a "rounded end." It was never described that way in either the reporter's transcript or the appellate opinion. Rather, the knife was simply described as six inches, all metal, "not sharp," with a serrated edge designed to "cut stuff like – toast and stuff." (RT 28-29, 62, 80.)

state prison" Under this section, a "'deadly weapon' is 'any object, instrument, or weapon that is used in such a manner as to be capable of producing and likely to produce, death or great bodily injury." (*People v. Aguilar*, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-1029.) "Great bodily injury, as used in section 245, means significant or substantial injury. [Citation.] Because the statute speaks to the capability of inflicting significant injury, neither physical contact nor actual injury is required to support a conviction." (*Ibid.*)

This Court has explained section 245 contemplates two categories of deadly weapons. In the first category are objects that are "deadly weapons as a matter of law" such as dirks and blackjacks because "the ordinary use for which they are designed establishes their character as such. [Citation.]" (Aguilar, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-1029.) But other objects, while not deadly per se, "may be used, under certain circumstances, in a manner likely to produce death or great bodily injury." (Ibid.; accord, In re David V. (2010) 48 Cal.4th 23, 30, fn. 5; see also Aguilar, at p. 1030 ["deadly weapons or instruments not inherently deadly are defined by their use in a manner capable of producing great bodily injury"]; see also *People* v. Graham (1969) 71 Cal.2d 303, 328 ["When it appears . . . that an instrumentality . . . is capable of being used in a 'dangerous or deadly' manner, and it may be fairly inferred from the evidence that its possessor intended on a particular occasion to use it as a weapon should the circumstances require, we believe that its character as a 'dangerous or deadly weapon' may be thus established, at least for the purposes of that occasion"]; In re D.T. (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 693, 698-699; People v. Brown (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 1, 6-7; see People v. McCoy (1944) 25 Cal.2d 177, 188 ["a knife is not an inherently dangerous or deadly instrument as a matter of law"].)

When deciding whether an object that is not inherently deadly—such as a knife—is nonetheless a "deadly weapon" under section 245, "the trier of fact may consider the nature of the object, the manner in which it is used, and all other facts relevant to the issue. [Citations.]" (Aguilar, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1029.) A bottle or a pencil, for example, may be a deadly weapon within the meaning of section 245, subdivision (a)(1), "when used in a manner capable of producing and likely to produce great bodily injury." (Brown, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th at pp. 6-7.) And an object can be a deadly weapon even if there is no contact or injury, and "even if it is not actually used with deadly force." (D.T., supra, 237 Cal.App.4th at p. 699, quoting People v. Page (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1466, 1472.) California courts thus routinely affirm convictions under section 245, subdivision (a)(1), when the deadly weapon used was "some hard, sharp, pointy thing," even when the object was used "only to threaten, and not actually used to stab." (Ibid.)

For example, in *People v. Simons* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1100, the defendant held several armed police officers at bay with a screwdriver, an object the *Simons* court described as "not an inherently deadly weapon." (*Id.* at p. 1107.) Although instructed to drop the tool, the defendant flailed it around and urged the officers to shoot him. On these facts, the Court of Appeal upheld a conviction for exhibiting a deadly weapon to prevent arrest, finding "[t]he evidence clearly demonstrated that the screwdriver was capable of being used as a deadly weapon and that defendant intended to use it as such if the circumstances required." (*Ibid.*)

Applying these settled rules, the California courts, including this one, have found all sorts of everyday objects can qualify as deadly weapons—even a pillow—depending on the manner in which they are used. (See, e.g., *People v. Zermeno* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 927, 931 [beer bottle]; *People v. Graham*, supra, 71 Cal.2d 303, 327-328 [shoe]; *Page*, supra, 123

Cal.App.4th at p. 1472 [pencil]; People v. Montes (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 1050 [chain]; In re Jose R. (1982) 137 Cal.App.3d 269 [apple, with an embedded pin]; People v. Helms (1966) 242 Cal.App.2d 476 [pillow]; People v. Claborn (1964) 224 Cal.App.2d 38 [automobile]; People v. Herd (1963) 220 Cal.App.2d 847 [knife]; People v. White (1963) 212 Cal.App.2d 464 [large rock]; People v. Richardson (1960) 176 Cal.App.2d 238 [razor blade]; People v. Russell (1943) 59 Cal.App.2d 660 [fingernail file]; People v. Lee (1937) 23 Cal.App.2d 168 [iron bar]; People v. Nealis (1991) 232 Cal.App.3d Supp. 1, 4 [dog].)

If a pillow or shoe can be employed as a "deadly weapon," then so can a serrated metal knife. Indeed, given this backdrop, and as explained in more detail below, there is no logical reason to categorically exclude serrated "butter knives" as objects that can qualify as deadly or dangerous weapons.

B. Because "Butter Knives" Have Been Used To Murder And Maim, They Can Certainly "Qualify" As A Deadly Or Dangerous Weapon, As Other Jurisdictions Have Concluded

A serrated metal "butter knife" with a rounded end—regardless of length or sharpness—is not a deadly weapon "as a matter of law" because it was not designed to produce death or great bodily injury in ordinary use. (McCoy, supra, 25 Cal.2d at p. 188 ["a knife is not an inherently dangerous or deadly instrument as a matter of law"].) But it is still a knife with a metal blade and a serrated edge that can be used as a weapon to cut and stab. Under the settled principles stated above, and in light of the findings by California courts that numerous everyday objects may be "deadly objects"—including pillows and shoes—such a knife most certainly can "qualify" as a deadly weapon depending on the nature of the attack. B.M. does not argue otherwise, and never directly answers the question

presented. Rather, appellant focuses on her own conduct, and limits her argument to whether the evidence presented about *her use* of the knife in this case supports her conviction. (AOB 12-22.)

It was prudent for B.M. not to contest that a knife described in the question presented can qualify as a deadly weapon. Indeed, because butter knives have metal blades, it is hardly surprising that attackers have, in fact, used them to kill. Anthony Baxter is currently facing murder charges in California for stabbing a couple to death with a butter knife in 2016. (Schultz, *Man Can't Escape Trouble* (June 9, 2016) 2016 WLNR 17637726.) The defendant in *Wallace v. United States* (D.C. 2007) 936 A.2d 757, 760, 776, killed his victim by stabbing him in the neck with a butter knife. The defendant in *State v. Wooden* (La.App.1st Cir. 1990) 572 So.2d 1156, killed his victim by stabbing him in the neck with a butter knife and hitting him with a brick. The defendant in *Funmaker v. Litscher* (W.D.Wis. Sept. 20, 2001) No. 00-C-625-C, 2001 WL 34377571, at *2 killed his brother by stabbing him in the abdomen and chest with a butter knife, puncturing the aorta. These cases show that a butter knife can be an effective murder weapon.

Similarly, it is no surprise that butter knives have also been employed to inflict serious and substantial injuries. For example, during a fight in 2017, a New Orleans man used a butter knife to stab a victim, who was hospitalized for the stab wound. (Lipinski, *Two In New Orleans Stabbed With Butter Knife, Box Cutter In Separate Attacks* (Mar. 28, 2017) 2017 WLNR 9579522.) On Christmas Eve in 2016, a New York man "stabbed another man in the head with a butter knife" and was charged with aggravated assault. Police found the victim holding towels to his head. (Czech, *Man Held After Butter Knife Stabbing In Local Diner* (Dec. 27, 2016) 2016 WLNR 39560140.) The defendant in *Harrell v. State* (Tex.Ct.App. 2012), No. 05-10-01322-CR, 2012 WL 171861, at *3,

stabbed his wife in the leg with a butter knife. In 2013, a jury convicted a North Dakota man of assault with a dangerous weapon after he cut a tribal officer's cheek with a butter knife. (Assoc. Press, *Belcourt Man Found Guilty In Butter Knife Attack*, 2013 WLNR 34437283.) That same year, a psychiatric patient in New York stabbed a staff member in the face with a butter knife, puncturing the cheek. (*SLPC Attack Alleged*, 2013 WLNR 17345622.) And NBC News reported in 2011 that a man attacked his wife with a butter knife, resulting in the knife becoming "lodged in her skull." (See NBC 6 South Florida, *Wife's Skull Cracked by Hubby in Butter Knife Attack* https://www.nbcmiami.com/news/local/Wife's-Skull-Cracked-By-Hubby-in-Butter-Knife-Attack-124795794.html (as of Mar. 7, 2018).)

Indeed, a butter knife can even cause great bodily injury by accident. A four-year-old boy who fell while holding a butter knife suffered blindness and severe injuries when the knife penetrated his eye socket. (See Kitakami et al., *Transorbital-transpetrosal Penetrating Cerebellar Injury-Case Report-*(1999) 39 Neurologia medico-chirurgica 150-152 https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/nmc1959/39/2/39_2_150/_article (as of Mar. 7, 2018).) Thus, by its very nature *as a knife*, a butter knife is potentially more dangerous some other types of objects that have been deemed to be "deadly." (See *Helms*, *supra*, 242 Cal.App.2d 476 [pillow]; *Zermeno*, *supra*, 21 Cal.4th at p. 931 [bottle]; *Page*, 123 Cal.App.4th at p. 1472 [pencil]; *Montes*, *supra*, 74 Cal.App.4th 1050 [chain].)

Because butter knives clearly can be used to cause significant harm, other jurisdictions have found them to be "deadly or dangerous weapons" for the purpose of assault crimes and sentencing enhancements. (See, e.g., *Johnson v. State* (Tex.Crim.App. 2017) 509 S.W.3d 320, 324 [butter knife waved in a threatening manner during a robbery, but without injuring any victim, held to be a deadly weapon]; *Harrell*, *supra*, 2012 WL 171861, at *3 [butter knife used to stab the victim's leg was a deadly weapon]; *State v.*

Rollins (La.Ct.App. 2011) 2010-0977, 2011 WL 9160375, at *4 [sufficient evidence that defendant armed himself with a "dangerous weapon" when he entered the victim's home, threatened her, and grabbed a butter knife]; State v. Aceves (Ariz.Ct.App. 2009, No. 2 CA-CR 2007-0182) 2009 WL 33478, at *4 [jury entitled to find plastic knife was a dangerous weapon]; *United* States v. Mathijssen (8th Cir. 2005) 406 F.3d 496, 499 [dull, small (1½ to 2 inches) knife was considered a dangerous weapon for purposes of a sentence enhancement]; State v. Franklin (La.Ct.App. 2001) 803 So.2d 1057, 1063 [defendant's use of butter knife in commission of rape constituted the use of a dangerous weapon]; State v. Tankins (Mo.Ct.App. 1993) 865 S.W.2d 848, 851-852 [defendant characterized a knife as a "butter knife" but the court disagreed because it had serrated edges; even assuming it was a dull butter knife, it was used as a threat to produce harm and was considered a dangerous instrument]; Williams v. State (Tex. App. 1987) 732 S.W.2d 777, 778-780 [butter knife with a rounded tip qualified as a deadly weapon because defendant grabbed victim's face and threatened her with the knife]; *Porreca v. State* (1983) 56 Md.App. 63, 68-69 [466 A.2d 550] ["butter or kitchen knife," described as a "standard eating utensil-type knife," tied to probationer's pants was a dangerous weapon].)

Because it is possible to wield a butter knife with a rounded end and a serrated edge in a manner that is capable of producing and likely to produce death or great bodily injury, a reasonable fact-finder can infer that such an object qualifies as a deadly or dangerous weapon under section 245, subdivision (a)(1).

C. B.M. Committed An Assault With A Deadly Weapon In This Case By Wielding The Knife In A Manner Capable Of Producing, And Likely To Produce, Great Bodily Injury

As to the particular knife attack in this case, the Court of Appeal correctly held that "a reasonable trier of fact could and did make the requisite finding" that B.M. "used the butter knife 'in such a manner as to be capable of producing and likely to produce, death or great bodily injury." (*B.M.*, *supra*, 10 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1298-1299, quoting *Aguilar*, *supra*, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1028-1029.)

"The same standard governs review of the sufficiency of evidence in adult criminal cases and juvenile cases" (*In re Matthew A.* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 537, 540.) "[T]he power of an appellate court asked to assess the sufficiency of the evidence begins and ends with a determination as to whether or not there is any substantial evidence, whether or not contradicted, which will support the conclusion of the trier of fact Where there is more than one inference which can reasonably be deduced from the facts, the appellate court is without power to substitute its deductions for those of the trier of fact. [Citation.]" (*In re Katrina C.* (1988) 201 Cal.App.3d 540, 547; accord *People v. Maury* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 342, 396.)

Here, substantial evidence was presented in the juvenile court that B.M. committed an assault with a deadly weapon in light of the relevant considerations set forth by this Court in *Aguilar*, namely: "the nature of the object, the manner in which it is used, and all other facts relevant to the issue." (16 Cal.4th at p. 1029.)

As to the "nature of object" used in the assault, Sophia described it as a six-inch, all-metal, serrated knife. The juvenile court was entitled to conclude that such a knife could qualify as a "deadly weapon" as discussed in detail above.

Concerning the "manner" in which the knife was used, substantial evidence supports the finding that B.M. wielded it in a way that could produce, and was likely to produce, great bodily injury. At first, B.M. tried but failed to hurt Sophia by pulling her hair and by hurling a telephone, before leaving briefly to retrieve a weapon. When B.M. reentered the bedroom, she had armed herself with the six-inch serrated knife, which she promptly used to stab and cut at her near-naked sister. Sophia was undressed, wrapped in a towel, and lying on her back on the bed when B.M. attacked her with the knife, and Sophia covered herself with a blanket to protect herself. (RT 14-17.) That the assault did not actually produce great bodily injury was not for lack of force or effort. B.M. was "yelling" and "furious," and her arm movements were forceful and violent, or in Sophia's words: "like someone trying to stab someone." (RT 19, 31.) She later repeated that "[B.M.] tried stabbing me with [the] knife" (RT 24), and also made a "slicing" motion (RT 34). B.M. later told police that she made "downward stabbing motions" with the knife. (RT 59-60.) To Sophia, it was obvious that B.M. was "trying to just hurt me," and Sophia felt the significant pressure of the knife blows through the blanket (five or six on a scale of one to ten). Sophia was "screaming" and terrified that "[B.M.] could really . . . hurt me." (RT 25, 28, 34.)

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